FILED

SID J WHITE

MAR 6 1995

CLERK, SUPPLY COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHELLE M. KELSON,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 85,246

RUSSELL M. KELSON,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District State of Florida

Gordon Edward Welch, Esq. 201 E. Government Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 (904) 432-7723 Florida Bar No. 405310 Attorney for the Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The respondent, the former husband, was the prevailing party in an action by the petitioner, the former wife, to modify or amend the final judgment dissolving their marriage. The parties, who were divorced in 1986, had entered into a marital settlement agreement which was incorporated in the final judgment dissolving their marriage and which provided, among other things, that the petitioner would receive a share of the respondent's military retired pay upon his retirement according to a formula agreed upon by the parties. (References to the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Kelson v. Kelson</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D.2587 (Fla. 1st DCA December 7, 1994) shall be denoted as "Slp. Op."). Following the parties' divorce, Congress enacted the Voluntary Separation Incentive Program, 10 U.S.C.A. §1175 (West 1994), hereinafter referred to as "VSI," and the respondent elected to retire under that program before reaching twenty years of active duty at which time he would have been entitled to retired pay. (Slp. Op. 2). The petitioner filed an action to modify or amend the final judgment to provide that she receive a share of the VSI benefits commensurate to the share of the respondent's retired pay to which she was entitled under the marital settlement agreement and final judgment. (Slp. Op. 1).

The trial court found that VSI benefits were not the same as or the equivalent of retired pay and that it had no jurisdiction under McCarty v. McCarty, 453 U.S. 210, 2101 S.Ct. 2728, 69 L.Ed.2d 589 (1981), or the Uniformed Services Former Spouses Protection

Act, 10 U.S.C.A § 1408 (West 1983 & Supp. 1994), hereinafter referred to as "USFSPA," to divide VSI benefits between the parties. (Slp. Op. 3). The trial court further found it had no jurisdiction to modify the settlement agreement to go beyond the agreed upon division of retired pay. (Slp. Op. 3).

An appeal was taken to the First District Court of Appeal to review the trial court order denying the petition. On December 7, 1994, the First District affirmed the trial court. Kelson v. Kelson, No. 93-3003 (Fla. 1st DCA December 7, 1994). The district court held that, under McCarty, federal law preempts state law with regard to the divisibility of military benefits. The district court went on to hold that as the subsequently enacted USFSPA only expressly authorizes state courts to divide military retired pay, McCarty applies to VSI benefits and state courts do not have the authority to divide such benefits between spouses. (Slp. Op. 5). The court further found that VSI benefits are not the same as or equivalent to retired pay and, therefore, the marital settlement agreement could not be interpreted as encompassing the VSI benefits under the term "retired/retainer pay." (Slp. Op. 7).

Petitioner's motion for rehearing, motion for rehearing en banc, and suggestion of direct conflict or, in the alternative, a question of great public importance, were denied on January 26, 1995. (App. A-2). The petitioner's notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on February 24, 1995.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this case, the district court of appeal held that VSI benefits are not the same as or equivalent to military retired pay. (Slp. Op. 7). It held that, under McCarty v. McCarty, 453 U.S. 210, 101 S.Ct. 2728. 69 L.Ed.2d 589 (1981), federal law precludes state courts from dividing VSI benefits and, further, that the USFSPA does not authorize state courts to divide VSI benefits because VSI benefits do not constitute retired or retainer pay. (Slp. Op. 5). The district court, while correctly recognizing that the Fifth District Court of Appeal had reached a contrary conclusion on these same issues in Abernethy v. Fishkin, 638 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), incorrectly found that conclusion to be in (Slp. Op. 4). Because the former husband in Abernethy dictum. contended that VSI benefits did not constitute retired pay and that trial court was precluded from dividing such benefits under McCarthy and the USFSPA, it was necessary for the Abernethy court to decide those issues and, consequently, its decision on those issues is not dicta. Abernethy v. Fishkin, 638 So. 2d 160, 162 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). Accordingly, petitioner contends that the decision of the First District expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal of this state.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V § 3(b)(3) Fla.Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN <u>Abernethy v. Fishkin</u>, 638 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

In this case, the final judgment of dissolution incorporated an agreement which provided that the wife would receive, as a equitable division of property, a percentage of the husband's military retired pay upon his retirement from the Marine Corps, that percentage being based upon a formula agreed upon by the (Slp. Op. 2). After the dissolution, but before the parties. husband had achieved twenty years of service and eligibility for retired pay, Congress enacted and the husband elected to receive benefits under the VSI program. (Slp. Op. 2). The wife petitioned to modify or amend the final judgment to include specific language allowing her an interest in the VSI benefits on the ground that VSI benefits were the functional equivalent of the retired pay to which she was entitled under the agreement, that the husband elected such benefits in lieu of retired pay, and that the parties could not have anticipated the husband's receipt of VSI benefits in lieu of retired pay because no such benefits were available at the time of the agreement. (Slp. Op. 2). The husband argued that VSI benefits are not the same as or equivalent to retired pay and that the court had no jurisdiction to modify the property settlement agreement. (Slp. Op. 2). The trial court agreed with the husband and denied the wife's petition. (Slp. Op. 3).

In this case, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court decision, rejected the wife's arguments, and stated:

Mrs. Kelson argues that the fact that the statute creating Voluntary Separation Incentive benefits was not in existence at the time the agreement was drafted, coupled with the similarities between VSI benefits and retired pay (such as the method of calculating the amount) permit an interpretation that the term 'retired/retainer pay' as used in the agreement encompasses the Voluntary Separation Incentive Benefits. The Fifth District Court of Appeal reached a conclusion supporting that result in dictum * in Abernethy v. Fishkin, 638 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). With all due respect to our sister court, we cannot agree that VSI benefits may be considered retired pay for these purposes.

(Slp. Op. 4).

In footnote 1, designated above as *, the court stated:

The court was not required to reach the question whether VSI benefits are retirement pay because of the specific terms of the agreement between the parties. The former husband had specifically obligated himself to make the agreed payments without limiting the source of funds to anticipated retired pay.

(Slp. Op. 4).

In Abernethy v. Fishkin, 638 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), the Fifth District Court of Appeal decided the appeal of a case strikingly similar to this case. In Abernethy the judgment dissolving the marriage incorporated an agreement which provided the wife would receive twenty-five percent of the husband's military retired pay when he retired. The agreement also provided that the husband could take no action to defeat the wife's interest in his retired pay. Id. at 161. After the dissolution but before he had served twenty years and became eligible for retired pay, the husband voluntarily left the service and received VSI benefits. The wife moved for enforcement of the divorce decree, arguing that the husband had defeated her right to receive a portion of his retired pay by selecting VSI benefits and thereby violated the

agreement. <u>Id</u>. at 161. The trial court agreed and ordered the husband to pay twenty-five percent of every VSI payment to the wife and the husband appealed.

After summarizing the facts, the Fifth District stated:

In attacking the trial court's order of enforcement, the husband's principal contention is that, under the doctrine of federal preemption, the trial court lacked authority to order him to pay 25% of his VSI payments to the wife regardless of the provisions contained in the parties' property settlement agreement and the final judgment...The husband argues that, under the reasoning in McCarty, federal law precludes state courts from distributing VSI benefits in dissolution proceedings because such distribution frustrates Congress' intent in enacting the VSI program. The husband further argues that the USFSPA does not authorize state courts to distribute VSI because VSI does not constitute retired or retainer pay.

Id. at 161-162.

The court then expressly rejected these arguments and, after analyzing the legislative history of the VSI program, concluded VSI benefits were the same as retired pay and that the trial court had jurisdiction to order the husband to pay a portion of the VSI benefits to the wife. <u>Id</u>. at 162-163.

Only after reaching this conclusion did the <u>Abernethy</u> court address the effect of the provision of the agreement that the husband not take any action to defeat the wife's interest in his military retired pay, stating,

Even assuming, arguendo, that Congress has not authorized state courts to distribute VSI benefits, we still would affirm the trial court's order enforcing the parties' property settlement agreement...

<u>Id</u>. at 163.

It is clear that the decision of the <u>Abernethy</u> court that VSI benefits constitute retired pay is not dictum as determined by the First District below. It was necessary for the <u>Abernethy</u> court to address this issue as it was specifically raised by the husband on appeal and went to the jurisdiction of the trial court to enter the order appealed. Where a statement is necessary to the disposition of a case, it is not mere dicta. <u>Therrell v. Reilly</u>, 111 Fla. 805, 151 So. 305 (Fla. 1933). Further, it is clear that the court below specifically decided that VSI benefits do not constitute retired pay and, therefore, its decision is in direct conflict with <u>Abernethy</u>.

In addition, even assuming that the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeal could have decided Abernethy without addressing the questions raised by the husband and without deciding whether VSI benefits constitute retired pay, it did address those issues and expressly reached a conclusion of law with which the decision of the First District Court of Appeal is in direct conflict.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction in this case and should exercise such jurisdiction. The resolution of this conflict will determine the manner in which the courts of this state distribute VSI benefits in pending and future dissolution actions as well as the enforcement of existing dissolution judgments in which the parties agreed to or the court ordered the division of military retired pay.

CONCLUSION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and the Court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of the petitioner's argument.