I.H SEID JAWHITE MMAR 221 1995 Differ T

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHELLE M. KELSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 85,246

RUSSELL M. KELSON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO JURISDICTION

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District State of Florida

> KATHRYN L. RUNCO, ESQUIRE Michael J. Griffith, PA 304 East Government Street Post Office Box 848 Pensacola, Florida 32501 Telephone: (904) 433-9922 Florida Bar Number: 781680 Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent adopts and incorporates the Statement of the Case and Facts contained in the Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant case is not in direct and express conflict with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Abernethy</u> <u>v. Fishkin</u>, 638 So.2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). The language in <u>Abernethy</u> upon which Petitioner relies, wherein the Fifth District opined that benefits payable under the Voluntary Separation Incentive Program were the same as military retirement pay, was not necessary to the ultimate holding of the Fifth District in that case. Accordingly, that language is mere dicta and is insufficient to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT EXISTS BETWEEN THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE AND THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN <u>Abernethy</u> <u>v. Fishkin</u>, 638 So.2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

Pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, this Court has the discretion to accept jurisdiction to resolve an "express and direct conflict" between decisions of the district courts of this state. Petitioner Michelle Kelson ["Petitioner"] urges this Court to invoke its jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), arguing that the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in the instant case is in direct and express conflict with an earlier decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeals in Abernethy v. Fishkin, 638 So.2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). Both the instant case and <u>Abernethy</u> address the apportionment of military Voluntary Separation Incentive Program¹ ["VSI"] benefits under a marital settlement agreement. However, the portion of the Fifth District's opinion in Abernethy which is alleged to conflict with the decision in the instant case was mere dicta. Accordingly, there is no express and direct conflict between Abernethy and the instant case, `and therefore no grounds upon which to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

The Petitioner argues that the crux of the Fifth District's decision in <u>Abernethy</u>, was that VSI benefits are the same as, or

¹10 U.S.C.A. 1175 (West 1994)

equivalent to, military retirement pay for purposes of enforcing a marital settlement agreement, and thus that there can be no federal preemption which would preclude a state court from apportioning such VSI benefits. Petitioner's argument fails to recognize that the facts in the instant case present a different issue: whether a state court may modify a marital settlement agreement after the fact to require apportionment of VSI benefits, where the agreement does not otherwise speak to such benefits, or require such an apportionment. The First District in the instant case correctly held that state courts have no such authority, while the Fifth District in Abernethy, confronted with an entirely different factual situation, held that the agreement at issue in that case could be construed to require a division of VSI benefits. Because the facts before the Fifth District in Abernethy are materially distinguishable from those before the court in this case, and because the language in Abernethy on which Petitioner relies to show a conflict is mere dicta, this Court has no jurisdiction over the instant case pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983); Niemann v. Niemann, 312 So.2d 733 (Fla. 1975).

As Petitioner states in her brief, in 1986 the parties to this appeal entered into a marital settlement agreement, subsequently incorporated in a final judgment of dissolution of marriage. That agreement provided, in pertinent part, that the Petitioner would receive a monthly percentage of the Respondent's

anticipated military retired pay upon his retirement from the U.S. Marine Corps. The Respondent would have become eligible for military retired pay after twenty years of active military service. Prior to the Respondent's achieving eligibility for military retired pay, the United States Congress enacted the VSI Program, which provided for an annual payment for a specific term of years upon early separation from the armed services. The Respondent elected to receive VSI benefits after completing sixteen years of active service. The trial court determined, `and the First District Court of Appeals agreed, that the agreement between the parties did not require apportionment of the VSI benefits as "military retired pay", and that the court lacked jurisdiction to modify that agreement to require any such apportionment.

The property settlement agreement at issue in <u>Abernethy</u> also provided that the former wife would receive a percentage of the former husband's military retired pay upon his retirement from active duty in the armed services. Unlike the instant case, however, the parties in <u>Abernethy</u> had also incorporated a provision in the agreement under which the former husband specifically agreed to take no action which might defeat the former wife's right to the stated percentage of retirement pay. That provision further required the former husband to selfimplement the agreement's payment requirements, if necessary. <u>Abernethy</u>, 638 So.2d at 163. Notwithstanding his specific agreement not to defeat the former wife's entitlement to a

portion of his retirement pay and to self-implement the corresponding payment requirements if necessary, the former husband in Abernethy argued that the state court was without jurisdiction to order apportionment of his VSI benefits. Id. at 161. In response to this argument, the Fifth District addressed the significance of the United States Supreme Court decision in McCarty v. McCarty, 453 U.S. 210, 101 S.Ct. 2728, 69 L.Ed. 589 (1981) and the subsequent Congressional enactment of the Uniformed Services Former Spouses Protection Act ["USFSPA"], 10 U.S.C.A. 1408. Abernethy, 638 So.2d at 161-163. In McCarty, the Court had held that under the doctrine of federal preemption state courts could not distribute military retirement benefits in marital dissolution proceedings. In response to the McCarty decision, Congress adopted the USFSPA, which provided limited authority for state courts to apportion military retirement benefits. The Fifth District in Abernethy held that the trial court was not precluded from reaching the former husband's VSI benefits under USFSPA, noting the apparent Congressional intent to treat VSI benefits in a manner similar to military retirement pay. Abernethy 638 So.2d at 162-163. That determination, however, was not the pivotal factor on which the Fifth District's ultimate judgment was contingent. Instead, as the Fifth District Court of Appeal acknowledged, and as the First District in the instant case noted, the Abernethy decision would have been the same absent such a finding; since the former husband in that case specifically agreed to take no action which would defeat the

former wife's entitlement to a portion of his military retired pay, even agreeing to fund the payments from his personal funds if necessary, the source of the funds, whether military retirement pay or VSI, was wholly irrelevant. As the court stated in Abernethy:

Under these circumstances, the trial court was authorized to enforce the agreement and the final judgment by requiring the husband to make the agreed payments from his personal funds reqardless of their source.

Id. at 163 (emphasis supplied) (footnote omitted). In the instant case, in contrast, there was no requirement that the Respondent self-implement the provisions of the marital settlement agreement regarding apportionment of his military retirement pay. As the First District correctly noted, the trial court was bound by the specific terms of the agreement²; to go further would have amounted to an unauthorized modification of an agreed-to property division.

It is clear on the basis of the Fifth District's own opinion in <u>Abernethy</u> that its determination of the preemption issue under <u>McCarty</u> and the USFSPA was dicta. <u>Crabtree v. Aetna Casualty and</u> <u>Surety Co.</u>, 438 So.2d 102, 106 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (a statement which is unnecessary to the holding of a case is dicta).³

²"The starting point for any analysis must be the terms of the marital settlement agreement entered into between the parties. Such an agreement, 'entered into voluntarily after full disclosure and then ratified by the trial court, is a contract subject to interpretation like any other contract'". Slp. Op. at 3 (citations omitted).

³The Petitioner argues that it was "necessary" for the Fifth District to determine whether VSI benefits were the functional equivalent of military retired pay simply because the former

Because the issue of whether VSI benefits constituted "military retirement pay" under the provisions of the USFSPA was irrelevant under the specific terms of the marital settlement agreement in <u>Abernethy</u>, the language in the <u>Abernethy</u> opinion on which the Petitioner in the instant case relies was not necessary in order for the Fifth District enter its ultimate disposition and confers no jurisdiction on this Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980). <u>Crabtree</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>see also Niemann v.</u> <u>Niemann</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Clendening</u>, 289 So.2d 704, 709 (Fla. 1974).

husband in that case raised the issue. (Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief at 3, 7-8) The test, however, is whether the determination was fundamental to the outcome of the ultimate decision, not whether the issue was presented to the court. Crabtree v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Co., supra.

CONCLUSION

The instant case was correctly decided, and is not in conflict with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Abernethy v. Fishkin</u>, <u>supra</u>. Accordingly, this Court is without jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution.